DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

FILE COPY

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 20-0967



MIKE ROSS, INC.,

Petitioner and Cross-claim Defendant Below,

v.

ANTERO RESOURCES CORPORATION,

Respondent and Cross-claim Plaintiff Below.

Petitioner Mike Ross, Inc.'s Brief

Civil Action No. 13-C-528-2 In the Circuit Court of Harrison County, West Virginia (Honorable Thomas A. Bedell, Chief Judge)

Benjamin L. Bailey (WVSB No. 200)
Rebecca D. Pomeroy (WVSB No. 8800)
Christopher D. Smith (WVSB No. 13050)
BAILEY & GLASSER, LLP
209 Capitol Street
Charleston, WV 25301
Telephone: 304.345.6555
Facsimile: 304.342.1110
bbailey@baileyglasser.com
bpomeroy@baileyglasser.com

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. Under West Virginia law, a pre-existing duty cannot be used as consideration to support the formation of a new contract. In the case below, the court determined that Antero's agreement to continue rendering payments it was already obligated to provide was sufficient consideration to create an indemnity contract with MRI. Did the lower court err when it determined that Antero's pre-existing duties amounted to consideration sufficient create a contract?
- 2. Under West Virginia law, a breaching party is not entitled to recover for breach of contract. Antero breached its duty to MRI when it halted royalty payments. Did the lower court err when it held that Antero was entitled to recover under a contract that it breached?
- 3. Under West Virginia law, a party seeking contractual indemnification must show that the injury that it seeks to recover falls within the ambit of the indemnification agreement. Antero did not do so, failing to earmark settlement proceeds or include MRI in settlement discussions with Plaintiffs. Did the lower court err when it determined that Antero was entitled to indemnification for amounts that Antero failed to demonstrate fell within the scope of the indemnification agreement?
- 4. Did the lower court err when it entered judgment for a sum certain where Antero's own evidence conflicted about the actual amount owed?

II. INTRODUCTION

At its heart, this is an appeal about promises: empty promises, broken promises, and promises fulfilled. Although this sounds like fodder for midday television, the law of contracts in West Virginia is built on promises. And the lower court erred when it determined that one who breaks a promise may maintain an action for breach of contract. It erred when it determined that a promise of nothing could be used to enforce a promise for something. It erred when it determined that a party was entitled to more than it was promised. And finally, it erred when it entered an order on a sum certain amount that was materially in dispute. Those errors demand reversal.

Shortly after Plaintiffs in the underlying matter filed suit to determine the ownership of natural gas royalties, Antero offered to continue paying MRI—a party who, at the time,

purportedly owned the rights to the royalties—royalties Antero legally owed to MRI at the time in exchange for new indemnity obligations from MRI. Antero's empty promise, a promise to continue doing what it was already legally obligated to do, is insufficient consideration to support a contract. The lower court determined the opposite.

Later, after an opinion partially dealing with the ownership of those royalties was rendered—but before the issue was squarely resolved—Antero broke its promise. It unilaterally reneged on its empty promise to continue paying MRI. Despite its broken promise, Antero sought to hold MRI to the contract. But West Virginia law is clear: a breaching party is not entitled to enforce a contract. Again, the lower court determined the opposite.

Thereafter, MRI fulfilled its promise to Antero (and its obligations consistent with this Court's earlier opinion) when it made an offer of judgment to, and paid, Plaintiffs \$4,000,000 in the underlying action to account for royalties that were ultimately determined to belong to Plaintiffs. Despite this, Antero demanded more, seeking repayment and more of claims that MRI resolved through its accepted offer of judgment. But West Virginia law is clear—an injury may only be recovered for once and only where the party seeking indemnification shows that it falls within the scope of the indemnification agreement. The lower court once again determined the opposite and allowed Antero to recover for an injury that MRI resolved through an accepted offer of judgment. It compounded this error by entering judgment in an amount that even Antero's records demonstrate was a contested issue of fact.

West Virginia contract law is clear. An empty promise is unenforceable. One who breaks a promise cannot force another to comply with that promise. A party cannot demand more than what is promised much less recover pursuant to summary judgment on an amount that is materially

in dispute. MRI brings this appeal and asks this Court to reverse the lower court's decision to the contrary.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Although the underlying case is a labyrinth of issues spanning nearly a decade, Mike Ross, Inc.'s ("MRI") appeal centers on a lone crossclaim for contractual indemnity asserted against it by Antero. And at its core, the procedural history leading to the assertion and resolution of this claim is relatively straightforward. In 2013, Plaintiffs in the underlying action brought suit, alleging that Antero Resources Corporation ("Antero") wrongfully paid MRI gas royalties that belonged to Plaintiffs. See J.A. 1948-1956. Shortly thereafter, Antero approached MRI and offered to continue paying MRI royalty payments—despite the fact that Antero was already obligated to pay royalties to the apparent owner of those royalties—in exchange for a host of indemnity obligations. See J.A. 161-165. On November 12, 2019, after discovery was closed, four days after MRI resolved its claims with Plaintiffs through an offer of judgment on the eve of trial, and five years after signing the Agreement, Antero asserted a new crossclaim seeking repayment under the July 14, 2014 Agreement. See J.A. 106-112. MRI sought summary judgment on this claim for several reasons, including (a) the July 14, 2014 Agreement (the "Agreement") is unenforceable because Antero offered no consideration in support of that Agreement; (b) the Agreement is unenforceable because Antero breached it by halting payments to MRI; and (c) the Agreement is unenforceable because MRI's offer of judgment extinguished its obligation to Antero. See, e.g., J.A. 144-165; 201-211; 235-295. On September 15, 2020, the lower court denied that motion, instead partially granting

¹ Antero was only able to assert this crossclaim after the lower court granted an order allowing the Plaintiffs to file an Amended Complaint on October 30, 2019. J.A. 2126-2203. Antero used that Answer as a trojan horse to assert crossclaims that it never previously raised. *Compare J.A.* 106-112 with J.A. 113-128. Absent that order, Antero would have been unable to assert its tardy crossclaim, on which the parties never sought discovery.

summary judgment in favor of Antero² on the cross-claim and ordering MRI to repay a portion of the royalties pursuant to the Agreement. J.A. 52-94. On November 2, 2020, the lower court issued a Rule 54(b) order, determining that the discrete issue of Antero's crossclaim and Antero's request for a setoff were ripe for appeal. J.A. 95-99.

This appeal and the lower court's order turn on the Agreement, which is an amalgamation of promises. From its inception, the Agreement was founded on an empty promise by Antero, as it simply promised to continue doing what it was obligated to do all along. It then evolved into a broken promise. Despite promising to continue paying MRI what it was already obligated to pay, Antero halted payments before the full resolution of the royalty issue. Finally, even though it was not obligated to do so, the Agreement became a promise fulfilled when MRI satisfied the royalty payments for which Antero seeks indemnification through an accepted offer of judgment below. To truly understand this case, then, one must examine each phase of the promises that comprise the Agreement.

a) An Empty Promise: The Inception of the July 14, 2014 Agreement

In the case below, Plaintiffs asserted a variety of claims, including claims for declaratory relief, misappropriation, trespass, fraud, and slander of title, against several defendants based on natural gas royalty payments they claimed were rightfully owed to them. J.A. 113-128; 161-165. Ownership of the gas royalties was disputed because MRI purchased the rights to Plaintiffs' mineral interests at a delinquent tax sale, and Plaintiffs contended that the tax sale was invalid. *Id.* Based on that central dispute, Plaintiffs asserted claims against MRI for the wrongful receipt of funds tied to the mineral interests and against Antero for the wrongful payment of funds tied to the mineral interests to MRI. *Id.*

² Antero's Motion for Summary Judgment was denied to the extent it sought a setoff of \$4,000,000.

Shortly after the underlying case began, Antero halted payments to MRI. See, e.g., id. at 161-165. Despite its brief cessation of payment, Antero never disputed that it owed royalty payments to the owner of the contested mineral estates. See e.g., id. Simply put, Antero recognized when it entered into the Agreement that it had an existing, underlying obligation to pay royalties to whomever owned the mineral estates at issue in the case which at that time Antero believed was MRI. In fact, Antero obtained a title opinion in September 2013 on the subject property in which its counsel—counsel from the very same firm hired to litigate the underlying dispute—advised that MRI was the rightful owner of the royalties. See, e.g., id. at 281 (recommending that Antero "obtain a modification or pooling agreement from Mike Ross, Inc., or its successors or assigns, before beginning operations that pool the captioned oil and gas with other property").

On July 14, 2014, Antero used this existing obligation as a bargaining chip to create a one-way legal obligation on MRI to indemnify Antero for Antero's existing legal duty. In that Agreement, Antero promised to perform its pre-existing duty and

resume making royalty payments to Mike Ross, Inc. with the understanding that Mike Ross, Inc. will indemnify Antero for any overpayment and any interest due or accrued on the overpayment as a result of the competing claim of L&D Investments, Inc.

Id. at 161. The Agreement expressly conditioned resumption of a duty that Antero owed on an agreement by MRI

to reimburse Antero in full for any amount of royalties paid in excess of what Mike Ross, Inc. may actually own along with the full amount of interest due or accrued on the overpayments in the event that L&D Investments, Inc. or any other party, is deemed to own an interest in the subject minerals for which Mike Ross, Inc. now claims.

Id. at 162. Put simply, Antero agreed to continue doing what it was obligated to do all along, and in return, it sought to foist a new set of indemnity obligations onto MRI. In short, Antero offered nothing for something—a quintessential empty promise.

b) A Broken Promise: Antero Reneges on the July 14, 2014 Agreement

As the years ticked by, the parties vigorously litigated Plaintiffs' claims. On February 21, 2017, the lower court entered an order declaring MRI to be the rightful owner of the mineral interests at issue in the case. J.A. 1997-2062. After the lower court refused to alter or amend its judgment through an order issued on April 5, 2017, certain Plaintiffs and a co-defendant claiming to own roughly 36% of the 80% of the mineral estates at issue, appealed to this Court. L&D Investments, Inc. v. Mike Ross, Inc., 241 W. Va. 46, 56, 818 S.E.2d 872, 882 (2018). This Court reversed and determined that the tax deeds conveying those appellants' interests were void and directed the lower court to find that the 36% was owned by appellants. *Id.* But this Court's ruling did not resolve the validity of the entire mineral estates below; instead, its holding addressed only the claims of petitioners, leaving the ownership of the remaining mineral estates belonging the parties who did not appeal in question, See, e.g., J.A. 1225-1242. MRI continued to assert that it rightfully owned the portion of the mineral estates that was not addressed by this Court's prior opinion and moved for summary judgment on June 7, 2019, asking the lower court to declare it the rightful owner of the remainder of the mineral estates. Id. It was not until October 30, 2019, that the ownership of the remainder of the mineral estates was fully resolved. On that date, the lower court denied MRI's motion for summary judgment and determined that the entirety of the tax sales were void. J.A. 2126-2203.

Although ownership of the mineral estates remained at issue, Antero admittedly reneged on its agreement to continue paying MRI. Following this Court's decision, Antero's 30(b)(7)

deponent admitted that it suspended payments to MRI in May 2018 because of the "uncertainty" created by the opinion. J.A. 1070-1081. But the Agreement between MRI and Antero contained no provision permitting Antero to suspend payments because it was "uncertain" regarding the ownership status. Antero (emptily) promised to continue making payments to MRI—and it willingly reneged on that promise in May 2018. *Id*.

c) A Promise Fulfilled: MRI Resolves the Contested Royalty Claim with Plaintiffs

Although Antero broke its promise to continue paying royalties to MRI, MRI satisfied its promise to "indemnify Antero for any overpayment and any interest due or accrued on the overpayment as a result of the competing claim of L&D Investments, Inc." J.A. 161. On November 1, 2019, MRI tendered Plaintiffs an offer of judgment pursuant to Rule 68 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. J.A. 335-336. Pursuant to this offer, MRI offered Plaintiffs \$4,000,000 in exchange for "a full release of all claims asserted by Plaintiffs against MRI and, similarly, an agreement by MRI to forego any further claims in this case." *Id.* Importantly, because the offer of judgment sought a "full release of all claims," it sought to extinguish the claims for wrongfully received royalties asserted by Plaintiffs. On November 8, 2019, Plaintiffs accepted the offer, extinguishing, among other claims, the claim for wrongfully received royalties. J.A. 337-346.

Shortly thereafter, on December 16, 2019, Antero settled all of the claims asserted against it by Plaintiffs. Those claims included misappropriation, trespass, fraud, deceit, conversion, slander of title, unauthorized pooling of mineral interests, and punitive damages in addition to the claims for the royalties paid to MRI. J.A. 106-112;113-128. In its settlement agreement, Antero agreed to pay Plaintiffs a lump sum of \$7,000,000. J.A. 1929-1939. Antero did not, however, designate which, if any portion, of the settlement was being allocated to pay for misdirected royalties despite the fact that initial drafts of its settlement agreement allocated specific portions

of the settlement for particular claims. J.A. 256-257. Additionally, Antero neither invited MRI to participate in settlement of the claim nor sought MRI's input in determining which portion of the settlement was to be directed toward misdirected royalties and which portion was directed toward Plaintiffs' other claims.

d) A Promise Misconstrued: The Lower Court's Decision

Prior to November 12, 2019 (a date that conspicuously fell after MRI's resolution of the claims against it), Antero never asserted a claim for contractual indemnification based on the Agreement. Hastened, perhaps, by the sunset of the underlying case, Antero tardily asserted a crossclaim for contractual indemnity without seeking to leave to amend its crossclaim when answering the latest version of the Plaintiffs' Complaint. See J.A. 106-112.³ Months later, MRI and Antero filed cross motions for summary judgment on that claim.

In its Motion for Summary Judgment, Antero urged the lower court to treat the Agreement not as an indemnification agreement protecting Antero against competing royalty claims by Plaintiffs but as an Agreement that entitled it to wholesale reimbursement of royalties paid to MRI. See J.A. 214-234. Put simply, although the Agreement, by its own language, was put in place to "indemnify Antero for any overpayment and any interest due or accrued on the overpayment as a result of the competing claim of L&D Investments, Inc.," Antero sought to weaponize the Agreement and use it as a method to recoup the entirety of its royalty payments despite the fact that MRI and Plaintiffs, the parties who potentially had an ownership interest in those royalties, resolved the dispute over ownership of the royalties through the accepted offer of judgment. See

³ This crossclaim was asserted in an Answer to the latest version of Plaintiffs' Amended Complaint on November 12, 2019—after Plaintiffs accepted MRI's offer of judgment. *Id.* The Answer was formally entered after the lower court granted a motion to amend in its October 30, 2019 Omnibus Order. J.A. 2126-2204. MRI moved to dismiss the crossclaim on November 14, 2019, on the grounds that MRI's settlement resolved the indemnification crossclaim, or alternatively, to bifurcate the crossclaim. J.A. 1797-1827. On November 15, 2019, the lower court entered an order refusing to dismiss the crossclaim and bifurcating them "for a better presentation before this Court." J.A. 1834-1839.

J.A. 221-224. To that end, it asked the Court to enter a \$6,914,943.75—the purported total amount of royalties paid to MRI—judgment against MRI. *Id.* Although it sought to weaponize the indemnification agreement, Antero *graciously* conceded that "MRI should be entitled to receive a credit for the \$4,000,000.00 MRI paid to Plaintiffs." *Id.* at 223.

Beyond weaponizing an indemnification provision meant to shield it from competing royalty claims, Antero's motion suffered from another key defect. Specifically, in the affidavit supporting the motion, Alvyn Schopp, Antero's 30(b)(7) witness, claimed that Antero paid MRI \$6,914,943.75. *Id.* at 232-233. Months prior, however, Mr. Schopp testified in a 30(b)(7) deposition that Antero paid MRI \$6,506,754.11 in royalties. J.A. 1070-1081. Antero itself created an irreconcilable issue of material fact regarding the total payments rendered to MRI.

While Antero sought to weaponize the Agreement to claw back the royalties it owed, MRI moved to have the contractual indemnity crossclaim dismissed. Specifically, it sought summary judgment on that claim because (a) Antero offered no consideration beyond performance of a pre-existing duty in exchange for new duties from MRI, (b) Antero preemptively breached the Agreement by suspending payments to MRI, and (c) Antero improperly sought to recover for misdirected royalty payments claims that were resolved by the accepted offer of judgment between MRI and Plaintiffs. J.A. 144-165; 201-211; 235-295.

After reviewing the motions, the lower court determined "as a matter of law, that the July 14, 2014 *Agreement* by and between Antero and MRI in its totality of mutually considered purposes for coming into existence and provisions therein made, is deemed a valid contract and free of ambiguity as to the particularly identified royalty payments." J.A. 75. In its Order, the lower court determined that consideration existed in the form of "Antero . . . agreeing to allow MRI to keep receiving such contested royalty payments pending this litigation's determination of

contested royalty ownerships." *Id.* at 73. This amounted to consideration, per the lower court, because "MRI was provided a distinct and highly lucrative financial benefit; that being a very significant cash flow during an extended period of time for pursuing and financing other mineral rights and income producing investments from which MRI could yield additional investment income." *Id.* The lower court did not squarely address MRI's argument that Antero was simply performing a pre-existing duty in arriving at its conclusion.

The lower court also apparently determined that Antero did not preemptively breach the Agreement, stating that "MRI's ownership of any of the subject minerals was conclusively resolved herein by our Supreme Court declaring on appeal (with reaffirmation thereof by this Court upon remand) that MRI's 2003 Tax Deed was *void ab initio*." *Id.* at 72. The lower court did not address MRI's ongoing challenges to the mineral estates that were only fully resolved by the lower court's October 30, 2019 order, which occurred months after Antero suspended payments to MRI.

Finally, the lower court rejected Antero's argument that the Agreement entitled it to wholesale royalty repayments, stating that

Antero's heretofore produced royalty payment documentation, interest calculations and Affidavit of Alvyn A. Schopp are deemed to misconstrue the actual tenor and terms of such Agreement between these parties that called for a blanket return of royalties paid plus interest in the event any disbursed royalty proceeds by Antero to MRI under that Agreement were subsequently deemed improper through this instant litigation.

Id. at 73. It then determined that "Antero's contractual indemnification claim arising against MRI arising from their Agreement is premised on Antero's liability for any unpaid (i.e.; otherwise improperly paid to MRI) royalties to an appropriately entitled royalty interest owner interest owner in the Subject Property pursuant to the 1902 Andrews Lease." Id. at 75-76. It then noted that

Antero's settlement with Plaintiffs:

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