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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Circuit Court correctly determined that there was sufficient consideration to form a contract between the Petitioner, Mike Ross, Inc. ("MRI"), and the Respondent, Antero Resources Corporation ("Antero") relative to MRI's reimbursement of Antero for contested royalty payments made during the pendency of the litigation. The Circuit Court correctly rejected MRI's argument that any alleged breach by Antero insulated MRI from its contractual obligation to reimburse Antero for contested royalty payments made by Antero to MRI during the pendency of the litigation. The Circuit Court correctly calculated the amount of indemnification owed by MRI to Antero in the amount of \$6,914,943.75 for contested royalty payments made by Antero to MRI during the pendency of the litigation.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

R. App. P. 19 argument is appropriate in this case where MRI is contractually obligated to reimburse Antero for the full \$6,914,943.75 in royalty payments, including interest, for which MRI received from Antero but was not entitled.

²³ App. 75.

V. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

As this is an appeal from summary judgment rulings, the standard of review is *de novo*²⁴ and applying that standard, Antero is entitled to an order affirming the Circuit Court's rulings relative to MRI's cross-appeal.

B. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THERE WAS SUFFICIENT CONSIDERATION TO FORM A CONTRACT BETWEEN MRI AND ANTERO RELATIVE TO MRI'S REIMBURSEMENT OF ANTERO FOR CONTESTED ROYALTY PAYMENTS MADE DURING THE PENDENCY OF THE LITIGATION.

As noted, after the filing of suit in this matter and at the request of MRI, Antero agreed to resume making royalty payments to MRI in exchange for MRI's agreement to indemnify Antero, in full, for any overpayment of royalties, plus interest. Specifically, the Agreement provides:

Antero agrees to resume payments to Mike Ross, Inc. pending resolution of the ownership dispute that is the subject of the Civil Action. In consideration of Antero's promise to resume payments to Mike Ross, Inc., Mike Ross, Inc. agrees to reimburse Antero in full for any amount of royalties paid in excess of what Mike Ross, Inc. may actually own along with the full amount of interest due or accrued on the overpayments in the event that L&D Investments, Inc., or any other party, is deemed to own an interest in the subject minerals for which Mike Ross, Inc. now claims.²⁵

In other words, MRI decided to contractually obligate itself to reimburse Antero if MRI was determined not to own an interest in the Subject Lease, which is what ultimately transpired. Eventually, Antero paid MRI a total of \$6,914,943.75 in royalties for production from the Subject Lease.²⁶ Moreover, consistent with their Agreement, MRI signed multiple documents between

²⁴ Syl. pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W. Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994).

²⁵ App. 228.

²⁶ App. 232, 352.

2011 and 2014 that expressly stated, "Payor [Antero] is authorized to withhold payment pending resolution of a title dispute or adverse claim asserted regarding the interest in production claimed herein by the undersigned [MRI]. The undersigned agrees to indemnify and reimburse any amount attributable to an interest to which the undersigned is not entitled." As MRI's principal testified, he wanted to be paid to "keep the cash stream flowing." 28

After the Circuit Court entered its Order effectuating this Court's decision in *L&D* Investments, Inc. v. Mike Ross, Inc., ²⁹ ruling against MRI, ³⁰ and after MRI's Offer of Judgment was accepted by L&D, ³¹ Antero amended its cross-claim setting forth its claim for contractual indemnity under the Agreement, and demanding judgment against MRI for all amounts paid to MRI, including interest. The relevant provisions of this cross-claim are as follows:

- 2. On November 8, 2019, Plaintiffs and Mike Ross, Inc. announced to the Court Plaintiffs' Acceptance of Rule 68 Offer of Judgment by Defendant Mike Ross, Inc., in the amount of \$4,000,000.00 ("Judgment").
- 3. Antero and Mike Ross, Inc. are parties to an "Agreement" dated July 14, 2014, attached hereto as "Exhibit No. 1."
- 4. The Agreement provides that "Mike Ross, Inc. agrees to reimburse Antero in full for any amount of royalties paid in excess of what Mike Ross, Inc. may actually own along with the full amount of interest due or accrued on the overpayments in the event that L&D Investments, Inc., or any other party, is deemed to own an interest in the subject minerals for which Mike Ross, Inc. now claims."
- 5. Antero demands judgment against Mike Ross, Inc. pursuant to the terms of the Agreement for all amounts paid to Mike Ross, Inc., including interest, and further for any and all damages and interest that may be awarded to Plaintiffs by the

i,

²⁷ App. 1390-1403 (emphasis supplied).

²⁸ App. 192.

²⁹ 241 W. Va. 46, 49, 818 S.E.2d 872, 875 (2018).

³⁰ App. 2126.

³¹ App. 337.

Court or jury to the extent the Judgment does not fully compensate Plaintiffs for all damages and interest allegedly due from Antero and fully extinguish any claims by Plaintiffs against Antero for royalties paid to Mike Ross, Inc.³²

This Court has recognized that, "[i]n construing the language of an express indemnity contract, the ordinary rules of contract construction apply." As such, "[a] valid written instrument which expresses the intent of the parties in plain and unambiguous language is not subject to judicial construction or interpretation but will be applied and enforced according to such intent." This Court further has held that the language of indemnity contracts should "clearly and definitely show an intention to indemnify against a certain loss or liability; otherwise it is not a contract of indemnity. . . . [T]he primary purpose is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the parties." In addition, this Court has indicated that when considering the language of the indemnity provision, "facts and the surrounding circumstances" should be included in the interpretation. The interpretation of the interpretation.

In VanKirk, the Department of Highways ("DOH") entered into contracts with two separate construction companies, Green Construction Company ("Green") and Elmo Greer and Sons, Inc. ("Greer"), for the construction of different segments of Route 64.³⁷ During the course of the construction, Greer incurred a variety of additional costs due to Green's failure to meet

³² App. 108-109.

³³ Syl. pt. 4, VanKirk v. Green Const. Co., 195 W. Va. 714, 466 S.E.2d 782 (1995).

³⁴ Id. at Syl. pt. 5 (quoting Syl. pt. 1, Cotiga Dev. Co. v. United Fuel Gas Co., 147 W. Va. 484, 128 S.E.2d 626 (1962)).

³⁵ Sellers v. Owens-Illinois Glass Co., 156 W. Va. 87, 92-93, 191 S.E.2d 166, 169 (1972).

³⁶ *Id*.

³⁷ VanKirk, supra at 716, 466 S.E.2d at 784.

deadlines, which became the subject of the underlying claims before the court.³⁸ Greer sought judgment against the DOH and prevailed.³⁹ The DOH then sought indemnification from Green for amounts paid by the DOH to Greer.⁴⁰ The contract signed by Green included several indemnity provisions, including language that would "require[] Green to indemnify DOH against any claims or suits arising because of injuries or damage to any persons or property on account of the operations of the contractor [Green]." Further, Green signed a contract bond which included language that Green would "save harmless [DOH] from any expense incurred through the failure of said contractor [Green]... to complete the work as specified, and for any damages growing out of the carelessness or negligence of said contractor [Green]... [and] from all losses to it [DOH].

In from any cause whatever... in the manner of constructing said Road[.]" This Court held that "the indemnity language in question to be sufficiently plain, unambiguous, and broad to cover the losses incurred by Greer."

In this litigation, MRI and Antero's Agreement expressly provides that MRI will reimburse "Antero in full for any amount of royalties paid in excess of what Mike Ross, Inc. may actually own along with the full amount of interest due or accrued on the overpayments in the event that L&D Investments, Inc., or any other party, is deemed to own an interest in the subject minerals for which Mike Ross, Inc. now claims."⁴³

 $^{^{38}}$ *Id*.

³⁹ *Id.* at 717, 466 S.E.2d at 785.

⁴⁰ *Id*.

⁴¹ *Id*.

⁴² Id. at 720, 466 S.E.2d at 788.

⁴³ App. at 228 (Emphasis supplied).

Here, like in *VanKirk*, the indemnity language is "sufficiently plain, unambiguous, and broad" and is irrespective of any claim against Antero. Therefore, utilizing ordinary rules of contract construction, the plain language of the Agreement requires MRI to reimburse Antero for the full amount of royalties paid, plus interest. Again, MRI's arguments to the contrary are absurd.

In its Brief, MRI acknowledges, "Plaintiffs asserted claims against MRI for the wrongful receipt of funds tied to the mineral interests and against Antero for the wrongful payment of funds tied to the mineral interests to MRI." MRI also concedes, "Ownership of the gas royalties was disputed because MRI purchased the rights to Plaintiffs' mineral interests at a delinquent tax sale, and Plaintiffs contended that the tax sale was invalid." So, Antero was faced with two parties each claiming entitlement to the same royalty payments – L&D and MRI.

MRI's Brief then makes the preposterous argument that because Antero owed a duty to the rightful owner – even though the identity of that rightful owner was in dispute – it could not enter into an Agreement with MRI to pay the disputed royalties to MRI during the pendency of litigation if MRI agreed to reimburse Antero should it ultimately be determined that L&D was the rightful owner:

On July 14, 2014, Antero used this existing obligation as a bargaining chip to create a one-way legal obligation on MRI to indemnify Antero for Antero's existing legal duty. In that Agreement, Antero promised to perform its pre-existing duty and

resume making royalty payments to Mike Ross, Inc. with the understanding that Mike Ross, Inc. will indemnify Antero for any overpayment and any interest due or accrued on the overpayment as a result of the competing claim of L&D Investments, Inc.

⁴⁴ Petitioner's Brief at 4.

⁴⁵ *Id*.

Id. at 161. The Agreement expressly conditioned resumption of a duty that Antero owed on an agreement by MRI

to reimburse Antero in full for any amount of royalties paid in excess of what Mike Ross, Inc. may actually own along with the full amount of interest due or accrued on the overpayments in the event that L&D Investments, Inc. or any other party, is deemed to own an interest in the subject minerals for which Mike Ross, Inc. now claims.

Id. at 162. Put simply, Antero agreed to continue doing what it was obligated to do all along, and in return, it sought to foist a new set of indemnity obligations onto MRI. In short, Antero offered nothing for something—a quintessential empty promise.⁴⁶

Of course, this is facially absurd. Antero had been sued by L&D claiming that L&D, not MRI, owned the mineral interests and that Antero should be paying L&D, not MRI. It is correct that, at one point, Antero believed that MRI's argument might prevail relative to the delinquent tax sale and, indeed, the Circuit Court initially agreed with MRI's position, only to be reversed by this Court in L&D Investments, Inc. v. Mike Ross, Inc.⁴⁷ Still, Antero was obviously not "obligated to do all along" what MRI was suggesting at the time MRI proposed the MRI/Antero Agreement as L&D ultimately prevailed on its delinquent tax sale argument.

As MRI's brief acknowledges, that indemnification Agreement was predicated on MRI's contractual obligation "to reimburse Antero in full for any amount of royalties paid in excess of what Mike Ross, Inc. may actually own along with the full amount of interest due or accrued on the overpayments in the event that L&D Investments, Inc. or any other party, is deemed to own an interest in the subject minerals for which Mike Ross, Inc. now claims." 48

⁴⁶ Petitioner's Brief at 5-6 (emphasis supplied).

⁴⁷ 241 W. Va. 46, 49, 818 S.E.2d 872, 875 (2018).

⁴⁸ Petitioner's Brief at 5.

"The fundamentals of a legal contract are competent parties, legal subject matter, valuable consideration and mutual assent. There can be no contract if there is one of these essential elements upon which the minds of the parties are not in agreement."

Certainly, "A promise or contract where there is no valuable consideration, and where there is no benefit moving to the promisor or damage or injury to the promisee, is void." 50

On the other hand, "A valuable consideration may consist either in some right, interest, profit or benefit accruing to the one party or some forbearance, detriment, loss or responsibility given, suffered, or undertaken by the other."⁵¹

Accordingly, "A valuable consideration, however small, if bargained for in good faith in the absence of fraud will be sufficient to sustain a contract." 52

⁴⁹ Syl. pt. 3, Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. v. Nelson, 230 W. Va. 281, 737 S.E.2d 550 (2012) (quoting Syl. pt. 5, Virginian Export Coal Co. v. Rowland Land Co., 100 W. Va. 559, 131 S.E. 253 (1926)) (quotation marks omitted).

⁵⁰ Syl. pt. 4, *Dan Ryan*, *supra* (*quoting* Syl. pt. 2, *Sturm v. Parish*, 1 W. Va. 125 (1865)) (quotation marks omitted).

⁵¹ Syl. pt. 5, Dan Ryan, supra (quoting Syl. pt. 1, Tabler v. Hoult, 110 W. Va. 542, 158 S.E. 782 (1931)) (quotation marks omitted); see also First Nat'l Bank of Gallipolis v. Marietta Mfg. Co., 151 W. Va. 636, 642, 153 S.E.2d 172, 177 (1967) ("Consideration has been defined as some right, interest, profit, or benefit accruing to one party, or some forbearance, detriment, loss, or responsibility given, suffered, or undertaken by another. A benefit to the promisor or a detriment to the promisee is sufficient consideration for a contract.") (internal quotations and citations omitted); 17 C.J.S. Contracts § 115 (June 2020 Update) ("'Consideration,' is something of value given in return for a performance or a promise of performance that is bargained for."); RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF CONTRACTS § 71 (1981) ("A performance or return promise is bargained for if it is sought by the promisor in exchange for his promise and is given by the promisee in exchange for that promise.").

⁵² Wetzel v. Watson, 174 W. Va. 651, 654 n.4, 328 S.E.2d 526, 530 n.4 (1985) (emphasis supplied) (citing Peyton v. Peyton, 271 S.W.2d 493, 500 (Tex. Civ. App. 1954); Lovett v. Eastern Oil Co., 68 W. Va. 667, 670, 70 S.E. 707, 708 (1911)); see also Federal Deposit Ins. Corp. v. Fedorov, 2010 WL 2944569, at *6 (E.D. Mich. July 22, 2010) (quoting General Motors Corp. v. Dep't of Treasury, 466 Mich. 231, 239, 644 N.W.2d 734 (2002)) ("Courts generally do not inquire into the adequacy of consideration to support a contract,' and even a 'cent or a peppercorn, in legal estimation,' would suffice.")); First Nat'l Bank of Gallipolis v. Marietta Mfg. Co., 151 W. Va. 636, 642, 153 S.E.2d 172, 177 (1967) ("A benefit to the promisor or a detriment to the promisee is sufficient consideration for a contract.").

For these reasons, "Courts of law, as a rule, will not enter upon any inquiry as to the adequacy of a consideration in a contract. They presume this to have been determined by the parties to the contract, if they are capable of contracting." 53

Here, of course, there is no question that MRI could contract and, thus, the Circuit Court properly rejected its argument there was inadequate consideration where there was a legitimate dispute – in which MRI did not prevail – over MRI's entitlement to royalty payments from Antero. The MRI/Antero Agreement was like an insurance policy or any other contract of indemnity. MRI agreed to indemnify Antero for any risk to Antero vis-à-vis L&D's claims to the disputed royalties in exchange for Antero's agreement to pay MRI instead of L&D until rightful ownership of the mineral interests was resolved.

Certainly, "In the absence of a mutual agreement, based on a valid consideration, establishing modification of a written contract, there can be no subsequent modification of such a contract without consideration, and the mere promise of one of the parties to perform what he is already bound to do under the terms of the contract is not a sufficient consideration." But, here, both requirements are satisfied because (1) the MRI/Antero Agreement was mutual and (2) it was based on new and separate consideration, i.e., royalty payments by Antero to MRI during the pendency of litigation over MRI's legal entitlement to those royalty payments. Also, unlike in the Bischoff case where the alleged modifications were oral, 55 the MRI/Antero Agreement is in writing and signed by both parties.

⁵³ Rease v. Kittle, 56 W. Va. 269, 49 S.E. 150, 153 (1904).

⁵⁴ Syl. pt. 5, Bischoff v. Francesa, 133 W. Va. 474, 56 S.E.2d 865 (1949).

⁵⁵ Id. at 488-490, 56 S.E.2d at 873-874.

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